# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 94,134

DAVID COOK,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR DADE COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

BRET B. STRAND
Florida Bar No. 078431
Assistant CCRC
CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL COUNSEL
1444 Biscayne Blvd.
Suite 202
Miami, FL 33132-1422
(305) 377-7580

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Circuit Court for the Eleventh Judicial Circuit in and for Dade County Florida entered the judgements of conviction and sentence of death at issue. Mr. Cook was charged by indictment dated September 12, 1984, with two counts of first degree murder and related offenses (R. 1-4A). He pled not guilty.

Mr. Cook was tried by a jury August 6-9, 1985. The jury rendered verdicts of guilty (R. 1010-11).

After a penalty phase, the jury recommended death for both of the first degree murder convictions, by a vote of seven (7) to five (5) on Count One, and a vote of eight (8) to four (4) on Count Two (R. 1156).

On October 25, 1985, the trial court imposed a sentence of life imprisonment with a minimum mandatory of twenty-five (25) years on count one of first degree murder and a sentence of death on count two of first-degree murder. The court also imposed a

sentence of life imprisonment for the armed burglary, a sentence of fifteen years each for both of the counts of attempted robbery and suspended the sentence for count six, unlawful possession of a firearm. Each of these sentences was to be served consecutively (R. 233-34). The sentencing hearing at which these sentences were imposed was not recorded (See Supp.R2).

On direct appeal, this Court affirmed Mr. Cook's convictions, but remanded to the trial court for resentencing on the sentence of death. Cook v. State, 542 So. 2d 964 (Fla. 1989).

The trial court imposed a sentence of death for the conviction of first-degree murder <u>ore tenus</u> on February 5, 1990 (Supp.R. 22). No written sentence order was entered until March 30, 1990 (Supp.R1-4).

On direct appeal from the resentencing, this Court affirmed the convictions and sentences. <u>Cook v. State</u>, 581 So. 2d 141 (Fla. 1991). The United States Supreme Court denied certiorari on October 7, 1991. <u>Cook v. Florida</u>, 112S.Ct.252 (1991). On January 8,1993, Mr. Cook filed a motion to vacate judgment of conviction and sentence with special request for leave to amend (PCR.100-157). He supplemented this on October 6, 1993 (PCR.202-242). Mr. Cook then filed a motion to compel production of public records on April 7, 1996 (PCR. 251-257). On December 4, 1996, the circuit court denied Mr. Cook's motion to vacate, having neither heard his motion to compel, nor granted a hearing on the motion to vacate (PCR.292-296). The trial court's order denying Rule 3.850

relief to Mr. Cook referred to Mr. Cook's legitimate attempts to obtain public records as a "sham". and accused counsel for Mr. Cook as using the public records process as "another tool to delay resolution", as well as labelling counsel for Mr. Cook as almost "contemptuous".

On the basis of the trial court's bias and prejudice against Mr. Cook and his counsel, as evidenced by the language of his order denying Rule 3.850 relief, on December 11, 1996, Mr. Cook filed a motion to disqualify the trial court (PCR.292) However, the court not only failed to disqualify himself, but failed to make any ruling alt all on the motion.

On December 24, 1996, Mr. Cook timely filed a motion for rehearing on the court's order denying Rule 3.850 relief (PCRS.12-144). The circuit court denied the motion for rehearing on July 31, 1998(PCR.145-146). Mr. Cook then filed a notice of appeal to this Court.

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

- I. Mr. Cook is entitled to a  $\underline{\text{Huff}}$  hearing on all of the claims raised in his Rule 3.850 motion. The trial court erred in summarily denying his motion without giving Mr. Cook the benefit of argument on any of his claims pursuant to  $\underline{\text{Huff }}$  v. State, 622 So,2d 982 (Fla. 1993).
- 2. Mr. Cook is entitled to a full evidentiary hearing on all the claims raised in his Rule 3.850 motion. Mr. Cook pleaded specific detailed claims for relief, including claims of

ineffective assistance of counsel, <u>Ake</u> and <u>Brady</u> claims which are legally sufficient and are not refuted by the record.

- The trial court was biased an prejudiced throughout Mr. Cook's capital trial, resentencing and post conviction proceedings. This is evidenced inter alia, by his order denying post conviction relief to Mr. Cook in which he categorized Mr. Cook's cognizable public records claim as a "sham" and "nothing more than another tool to delay resolution". It is also shown by his characterization of counsel's proper delegation of appearance at the status conference to a second chair attorney from her office as "contemptuous". The trial court further erred by failing to recuse himself following Mr. Cook's motion to disqualify him, and by entering an order on Mr. Cook's motion for rehearing before reaching the motion to disqualify him.
- 4. Mr. Cook has been denied access to the files and records in the possession of certain state agencies which pertain to his case. The trial court erred by refusing to hear Mr. Cook's motion to compel production of public records, by ignoring the provisions of the then new Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.852, and by denying Mr. Cook the opportunity to amend his Rule 3.850 motion.
- 5. Mr. Cook has not been provided access to trial counsel's files. Collateral counsel is rendered ineffective through trial counsel's failure to turn over Mr. Cook's files.
- 6. The prosecutor's inflammatory and improper comments rendered MR. Cook's death sentence fundamentally unfair and

unreliable. The prosecutor's argument improperly incited the jury to find non statutory aggravation.

- 7. Mr. Cook was denied a proper direct appeal from his judgment of conviction and sentence of death due to omissions in the record. Large portions of the record are missing, including the entire original sentencing proceeding, rendering appellate counsel ineffective.
- 8. Constitutional error occurred during the jury instructions and trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object. These errors include, including the majority verdict instruction, the burden shifting instruction, the <u>Caldwell</u> error, the improper doubling of aggravating circumstances, and the automatic felony aggravating circumstance.
- 9. The judge improperly considered non statutory aggravating circumstances. The judge's order on resentenicng Mr. Cook to death showed he considered the victim's small size, Mr. Cook's cocaine habit and impermissible victim impact evidence.
- 10. The trial court refused to find and weigh mitigation presented in the penalty phase. For example, Mr. Cook presented uncontroverted evidence of his alcohol and substance abuse, that he was a good husband, father and employee, that he was religious and a good candidate for rehabilitation, which the court did not weigh.
- 11. The pecuniary gain aggravating circumstance was improperly applied. The jury were instructed that they could

consider it, yet it was not proven beyond a reasonable doubt.

- 12. Mr. Cook was absent from critical stages of his capital trial and resentencing proceedings. In particular, he was absent from his resentening proceeding.
- 13. The Rules prohibiting Mr. Cook from interviewing jurors are unconstitutional.
- 14. Juror misconduct occurred as evidenced, <u>inter</u> <u>alia</u> by the speed of the jury's verdict, indicating their predetermination of hte verdict and lack of deliberation.
- 15. Gruesome photographs were introduced which were inflammatory, cumulative and prejudicial.
- 16. Mr. Cook is innocent of the death penalty, since none of the aggravating circumstances found by the trial court at resentencing are properly applied in his case.
- 17. The cumulative errors in Mr. Cook's capital trial and resentencing render his proceedings fundamentally unfair.
- 18. Mr. Cook 's right to remain silent was violated because his mental disabilities were exploited when the police took his statement.
  - 19. Judicial electrocution is cruel and unusual punishment.
- 20. This Court failed to conduct a meaningful harmless error analysis following its striking of the heinous, atrocious, or cruel and the cold, calculated and premeditated aggravating circumstances.

### ARGUMENT 1

# MR. COOK IS ENTITLED TO A HUFF V. STATE HEARING ON HIS RULE 3.850 MOTION

Mr. Cook timely filed his initial postconviction motion (PCR.100-157), and supplement thereto (PCR. 200-242) as mandated by law. In order to facilitate production of public records, he then filed a motion to compel production of public records on April 7, 1996 (PCR.251-257).

At a status conference on November 22 1996, <sup>1</sup>and over objection by counsel, the court summarily denied the Rule 3.850 motion, neither conducting a hearing on the motion to compel, nor allowing amendment of the motion, nor conducting a <u>Huff</u> hearing. This was followed by written order dated December 4, 1996.<sup>2</sup>

Under <u>Huff v. State</u>, 622 So. 2d 982 (Fla 1993). this Court <u>held</u>

Because of the severity of punishment at issue in a death penalty postconviction case, we have determined that henceforth the judge

 $<sup>^{\</sup>rm 1}$  The hearing was originally scheduled for August 30, 1996 but postponed due to the trial court's indisposition.

During the course of the status conference. the trial court did offer counsel an opportunity to argue the merits of the case, but counsel was unprepared to do so, and did not do so both because the hearing was not noticed as a <a href="Huff">Huff</a> hearing. PCR.258), and because the motion to compel was still pending. <a href="See Ventura v.State">See Ventura v.State</a>, 673 So.2d 479, 481 (Fla.1996) (dismissal of capital defendant's motion for postconviction relief, before public records sought by him were provided, was premature, and defendant was entitled to amend his motion once requested records were furnished.

must allow the attorneys the opportunity to appear before the court and be heard on an intimal 3.850 motion.

## Huff v, State, 622 So. 2d at 983.

Contrary to <u>Huff</u>, the proceeding was not followed. The status conference on November 22, 1999 was not noticed as a <u>Huff</u> hearing. In any event, a <u>Huff</u> hearing at that juncture would have been premature, given the failure of the court to hear the pending motion to compel public records. and resolve other outstanding public records issues.<sup>3</sup>

At the status conference, Mr. Cook was represented by Rachel Day, who was standing in for Mr. Cook's lead counsel. Terri Backhus. Ms. Backhus was unable to attend the status conference due to the opening of the then Tampa branch office of CCR which she headed, and also because she was assigned to the John Mills case. John Mills was under death warrant at that time and was executed on December 6, 1996.

The practice of having second chair attorneys stand in for

At the time of the status conference, Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.852 had recently been implemented. Under the new rule, the trial court would not only have jurisdiction over agencies within the Eleventh Judicial Circuit, but all other state agencies from whom Mr. Cook had made public records requests. The new rule made specific provisions for individuals, such as Mr. already public Cook, who had commenced records Mr. Cook notified the Court of his litigation. intention to pursue records from those agencies, who were not listed in the April 1996 motion, but the court likewise refused to set a hearing on the matter.

lead counsel on routing or minor matters is well established and routine practice in Dade County, as in the rest of Florida. To insist on lead counsel always being present would be to cause unnecessary delay to the litigation of cases. However, the trial court in his order characterized Ms. Backhus' substitution by another attorney as follows:

Likewise the failure to appear and failure to notify the Court prior to the appointed time is a waiver of the right to argue the merits, if not openly contemptuous. As will appear below, perhaps her failure to appear has very much to do with having nothing to say that hasn't been said before or that has been waived.

(PCR.292).

Contrary to the court's assertion, nothing in the record of Mr. Cook's case supports the notion that Mr. Cook waived his right to argue the merits of his case. There is no authority for his proposition that having another attorney cover a routine status hearing constitutes a waiver of a proper <u>Huff</u> hearing. Had the hearing been noticed as a <u>Huff</u> hearing, clearly counsel would have notified the court of her conflicting schedule and moved for a continuance.

Mr. Cook was not given "fair notice and a reasonable opportunity to be heard." See <u>Huff</u> at 983, quoting <u>Scull v. State</u>, 569 So. 2d 1251 (Fla 1990). See also <u>Mordenti v. State</u>, 711 So. 2d 30 (Fla. 1998). This case should be remanded back to the circuit court for an opportunity to conduct a <u>Huff</u> hearing in accordance with the law.

#### ARGUMENT II

# MR. COOK IS ENTITLED TO AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING ON HIS RULE 3.850 CLAIMS

### A. ERRONEOUS SUMMARY DENIAL

On January 8, 1993 Mr. Cook filed his initial Rule 3.850 motion (PCR 100-157), which he supplemented in October 6, 1993(PCR 200-242). He pleaded detailed issues and demonstrated his entitlement to an evidentiary hearing. However, at a status conference on November 22, 1996, the trial court summarily denied his motion without granting a hearing. The trial court held no hearing at which Mr. Cook could compel the compliance with Chapter 119 by state agencies. The trial court attached nothing to the order denying relief.

A trial court has only two options when presented with a Rule 3.850 motion: "either grant an evidentiary hearing alternatively attach to any order denying relief adequate portions of the record affirmatively demonstrating that appellant is not entitled to relief on the claims asserted", Witherspoon v. State 590 So. 2d 1138 (4th DCA 1992). A trial court may not summarily deny without "attach[ing] portions of the files and records conclusively showing the appellant is entitled to no relief", Rodriguez v. State, 592 So. 2d 1261 (2nd DCA 1992). Brown v. State, 596 So. 2d 1025, 1028 (Fla.1992).

The law strongly favors full evidentiary hearings in capital post conviction cases, especially where a claim is grounded in

factual as opposed to legal matters. "Because the trial court denied the motion without an evidentiary hearing. and without attaching any portion of the record to the order of denial, our review is limited to determining whether the motion conclusively shows whether [Mr. Cook] is entitled to no relief."Gorham v. State, 521 So. 2d1067, 1069 (Fla; 1988). See also LeDuc v. State, 415 So. 2d 721, 722 (Fla. 1982).

Some fact based claims in post conviction litigation can only be considered after and evidentiary hearing, Heiney v. State, 558 So. 2d 398, 400 (fla. 1990). "The need for an evidentiary hearing presupposes that there are issues of fact which cannot be conclusively resolved by the record. Where a determination has been made that a defendant is entitled to such an evidentiary hearing (as in this case), denial of that right would constitute denial of all due process and could never be harmless." . Holland v. State, 503 So. 2d 1250, 1252-3) Fla. 1087). Accepting the allegations . . .at face value, as we must for purposes of this appeal, they are sufficient to require an evidentiary hearing", Lightbourne v. Dugger, 549 So. 2d 1364, 1365 (Fla 1989).

Mr. Cook has pleaded substantial factual allegations including ineffective assistance of counsel, Brady Ake violations which go to the fundamental fairness of his conviction and to the appropriateness of his death sentence. "Because we cannot say that the record conclusively shows [Mr. Cook] is entitled to no relief, we must remand this issue to the trial court for an

evidentiary hearing, Demps v. State, 416 So. 2d 808, (Fla. 1982).

Under Rule 3.850 and this Court's well settled precedent, a post conviction movant is entitled to evidentiary hearing unless the motion and the files and the records in the case conclusively show that the prisoner is entitled to no relief", Fla R. Crim. P. 3.850. See also <a href="Lemon v. State">Lemon v. State</a>, 498 So. 2d 923 (Fla. 1986); <a href="Hoffman v. State">Hoffman v. State</a>, 613 So. 2d 1250, (Fla. 1987) <a href="O'Callaghan v. State">O'Callaghan v. State</a>, 461 So. 2d 1354, 1355 (Fla. 1984); <a href="Gorham">Gorham</a>. Mr. Cook has alleged facts, which, if proven, would entitle him to relief. Furthermore, the files and records in this case do not conclusively show that he is entitled to no relief.

The trial court's denial of Mr. Cook's Rule 3.850 motion flies in the fact of the clear requirements of the law. It makes no use of the record or files in this case to show conclusively that Mr. Cook is not entitled to relief. It thus ignores the express requirements of Rule 3.850 and the substantial and unequivocal body of case law from this Court holding that courts must comply with the Rule.

This Court has "no choice but to reverse the order under review and remand" <a href="Hoffman">Hoffman</a>, 571 So. 2d at 450, and order a full and complete evidentiary hearing on Mr. Cook's Rule 3.850 motion.

## B. INEFFECTIVENESS PRETRIAL AND AT GUILT/INNOCENCE PHASE

Mr. Cook is entitled to an evvidentiary hearing on his claim of ineffective assistance of counsel at his guilt/innocence claim.

In <u>Strickland v. Washington</u>, 466 U.S. 668 (1984), the Supreme Court held that counsel has a "duty to bring to bear such skill and knowledge as will render the trial a reliable adversarial testing process." <u>Strickland</u> 466 U.S. at 688. An attorney is charged with the responsibility of knowing the law and presenting legal argument in accord with the applicable principles of law.

<u>See e.g. Garcia v. State</u>, 622 So. 2d 1325 (Fla. 1993), <u>Nero v. Blackburn</u>, 597F.2d 1168 (5th Cir. 1970). In Mr. Cook's case, counsel rendered prejudicially deficient performance and a hearing is warranted.

### 1. The systemic flaws / conflict of interest issue.

Mr. Cook was represented at his capital trial by Arthur Carter. Mr. Carter was appointed to this case because a conflict existed between Mr. Cook and the Dade County Public Defender's Office. Mr. Carter was not qualified to represent Mr. Cook in his complex capital case. However, the flaws inherent in the system used to appoint special public defenders itself ensured inadequate representation of Mr. Cook, in violation of his Sixth, Eighth and Fourteenth Amendment rights. Mr. Cook was denied effective assistance of counsel through a system of judicial patronage that ran rampant through Dade County at that time. This system, which

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>A series of articles published in the MIAMI HERALD in 1992 detailed the corrupt system through which a *coterie* of five private attorneys cornered the lucrative market of special public defender appointments. The article named five criminal defense attorneys, one of whom was Arthur Carter. The

should have protected Mr. Cook's rights to effective assistance of counsel in fact ensured the opposite. Counsel cut corners, failed to investigate and conducted the entire capital case as quickly as possible. No tactic nor strategy other than personal greed can be attributed to Carter's conduct. Mr. Cook was represented by an attorney whose interests were conflicted by his desire to curry favor for future appointments as a special public defender. Mr. Cook's interests were not his primary concern.

This conflict was further illustrated by the bills Mr. Carter submitted to Dade County for the time he supposedly spent on cases. The failure of the court to audit Mr. Carter's billing practices allowed him to hide his improper behavior in Mr. Cook's case and for years until he was finally exposed. Mr. Carter systematically overcharged Dade County for many cases, including that of Mr. Cook, in violation of fundamental principles of professional ethics prohibiting the collection of excessive fees. See Fla. R. P. Conduct 4-1.5(a).

practices exposed by the articles include a systematic quid pro quo in which the defense attorneys were appointed in return for large campaign contributions to individual judges, or through being on the individual judge's "good" list.

In an article dated April 14, 1992, Judge Carney was quoted as saying that many judges feel an obligation to give court appointments to those who helped keep their seat on the bench noting that " it is only human nature to reciprocate." Judge Carney's tacit indulgence of this objectionable practice is yet another instance of his bias and prejudice against individual indigent defendants.

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