IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 94,134

DAVID COOK,

Appellant,

VS.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

AN APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR DADE COUNTY, FLORIDA CRIMINAL DIVISION

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

FARIBA N. KOMEILY

Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0375934 Department of Legal Affairs Rivergate Plaza, Suite 950 444 Brickell Avenue Miami, Florida 33131

CERTIFICATE OF TYPE STYLE AND FONT

It is hereby certified that the text of this brief is printed in 14 point Times New Roman, a font that is not proportionately spaced.

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

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

D. <u>Doubling Of Aggravating Circumstances</u>.

The Appellant contends that the jury received instructions on both the burglary and financial gain aggravators. The Appellant has noted that the trial judge merged these aggravators, but claims that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object or request a limiting instruction. This argument has been rejected by this Court in Downs v. State, 24 Fla.L.Weekly at S234, n.5, where the claim of improper instructions and doubling of aggravators was found to be procedurally barred, as it could and should have been raised on direct appeal. This Court has also rejected a claim of ineffectiveness in this regard:

Downs' corresponding argument in issue (6) that counsel rendered ineffective assistance of counsel is likewise without merit because counsel was not deficient in failing to object or request a limiting instruction, See, Suarez v. State, 481 So. 2d 1201 (Fla. 1985)(finding no error in instructing jury on multiple aggravators so long as judge does not improperly double aggravators in sentencing order, and Downs has not demonstrated any prejudice according to the standards set forth in Strickland v. Washington, because the trial court merged these factors in its sentencing order.

Id.

E. Automatic Aggravating Factor

The Appellant claims error in the trial judge's use of the felony-murder aggravator, on the grounds that it creates an automatic aggravator and renders death a possible penalty even in the absence of premeditation. The lower court properly found this issue to be procedurally barred, as it should have been raised on direct appeal. (SPCR. 285-86). See, Lopez v. Singletary, 634 So. 2d at 1056.

Moreover, this Court and the federal courts have repeatedly rejected this contention. Lowenfield v. Phelps, 480 U.S. 231 (1988); Stewart v. State, 588 So. 2d 972 (Fla. 1991); Johnson v. State, 660 So. 2d 637, 647 (Fla. 1995). As such, Appellant's conclusory allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel are also without merit. Lopez v. Singletary, supra; Harvey v. Dugger, supra; Downs, supra.

F. <u>Jury Instructional Error As To HAC and Avoid Arrest Aggravators.</u>

The Appellant contends that the jury instruction on the HAC and avoid arrest aggravators were unconstitutionally vague. The trial court properly found this claim to be procedurally barred in accordance with <u>Ferguson v. Singletary</u>, 632 So. 2d 53, 56 (Fla. 1993) (PCR. 293). There were no objections to these jury instructions by trial counsel, nor was any jury instructional error raised on appeal. The lower court thus properly found the instant claim to be procedurally barred, as the jury instructions were not challenged at the penalty phase or on appeal thereof. <u>See also</u>, <u>Downs v. State</u>, 24 Fla. L.Weekly at S234 (Fla. May 20, 1999); <u>Harvey v. Dugger</u>,

656 So. 2d at 1258; <u>Bush v. State</u>, 682 So. 2d 85, 88 (Fla. 1996); <u>Crump v. State</u>, 654 So. 2d 545, 548 (Fla. 1995); <u>James v. State</u>, 615 So. 2d 668, 669 (Fla. 1993).

The Appellant's claim of ineffective assistance of trial counsel is also without merit, as the failure to object to standard jury instructions previously upheld by this Court does not constitute deficient conduct under the standards set forth in Strickland v. Washington. Harvey v. Dugger, 656 So. 2d at 1258 (counsel may not be deemed ineffective under Strickland for failing to object to jury instructions where this Court previously upheld validity of those instructions); Mendyk, 592 So. 2d at 1080 ("When jury instructions are proper, the failure to object does not constitute a serious and substantial deficiency that is reasonably below the standard of competent counsel."); Downs, supra.

IX. CLAIM OF CONSIDERATION OF NON STATUTORY AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCES IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED.

The Appellant claims that the trial judge considered inapplicable aggravators. The lower court properly found the instant claim to be procedurally barred, as it could have, should have, and was to a great extent raised on direct appeal. (PCR.294). On direct appeal of the resentencing the court noted:

Included in this claim is Cook's assertion that the judge improperly considered aggravating factors found by this Court to be inapplicable in Cook's prior appeal. *See Cook*, 542 So. 2d at 970 (Onelia's murder was not heinous, atrocious or cruel and was not committed to eliminate a witness). We reject the claim that the judge considered the inapplicable

aggravating factors. The written sentencing order clearly states that the judge did not find these factors and, therefore, gave them no weight when imposing the death sentence. We have reviewed the judge's statement concerning the witness-elimination factor at the oral sentencing, but do not interpret it to say that he considered this inapplicable factor when sentencing Cook.

Cook v. State, 581 So. 2d at 143. Post conviction proceedings are not a second appeal, and issues raised on direct appeal are procedurally barred. Swafford v. Dugger, 569 So. 2d 1264, 1267 (Fla. 1990). Francis v. Bartow, 581 So. 2d 583, 584 (Fla. 1991). With regard to additional arguments presented in support of the instant claim, the State would note that "it is not appropriate to use a different argument to relitigate the same issue." Medina v. State, 573 So. 2d 293, 295 (Fla. 1990); Cherry v. State, 659 So. 2d 1069 (Fla. 1995) (defendant could not relitigate in post-conviction motion, issue which was considered and rejected on direct appeal, even though defendant recharacterized the issue; Atkins v. Dugger, 541 So. 2d 1166, n.1. (claim of non-statutory aggravation in sentencing procedurally barred as it was either raised or should have been raised on direct appeal); See also, Scull v. State, 533 So. 2d 1137, 1143 (Fla. 1988)("when a judge merely sees a victim impact statement contained in a presentence investigation report, but does not consider the statement for purposes of sentencing, no error has been committed.").

X. REFUSAL TO FIND AND WEIGH NON-STATUTORY MITIGATION.

The Appellant has raised the same claim previously raised on direct appeal, with respect to mitigating factors. This Court rejected the claim as follows.

Cook next claims that the trial judge's written sentencing order fails to comport with the requirements of law because the judge did not adequately discuss the evidence Cook offered in mitigation. In the resentencing order the trial judge specifically adopted the discussion of mitigating evidence contained in his original sentencing order. In that order the judge discussed the reasons why each statutory mitigating factor listed in section 921.141(6), Florida Statutes (1989), did or did not apply in this case. As to nonstatutory mitigating factors, the judge noted in the resentencing order that

[d]efense counsel argues numerous purported non-statutory mitigating factors in a written submission, however, the Court does not believe that they exist, or those that do exist have so little weight when compared to the two aggravating factors, so as to have no weight at all.

He concluded "that insufficient mitigating circumstances, either statutory or non-statutory exist, as demonstrated by any testimony or facts, ... to outweigh the aggravating circumstances."

Cook most heavily relies on evidence of his substance abuse. Dr. Haber, a clinical psychiatrist, testified that Cook told her that he had been using drugs and alcohol for three years and that he had taken substantial quantities of both on the night of the killings. She expressed the opinion that as a consequence his judgment was impaired. However, family members denied knowledge of any substance abuse on the part of Cook. We believe the judge sufficiently addressed the subject of substance abuse in rejecting the statutory mental mitigating circumstances;...

. . . .

There was also testimony describing Cook as nonviolent and a follower, that he had undergone religious conversion in jail, and that he was a good worker and family man. Because the court's sentencing order does not specifically address any of these non-statutory mitigating

circumstances, it does not fully comply with this Court's recent pronouncement in *Campbell v. State*, 571 So. 2d 415, 419 (Fla. 1990)(footnote omitted):

When addressing mitigating circumstances, the sentencing court must expressly evaluate in its written order each mitigating circumstance proposed by the defendant to determine whether it is supported by the evidence and whether, in the case of non-statutory factors, it is truly of a mitigating nature.

However, particularly in view of the double murder involved in this case, we are convinced beyond a reasonable doubt that the judge still would have imposed the sentence of death even if the sentencing order had contained findings that each of these nonstatutory mitigating circumstances had been proven.

Cook v. State, 581 So. 2d at 143-144. As noted previously, post conviction proceedings are not a second appeal, and issues raised on direct appeal are procedurally barred. Swafford v. Dugger, 569 So. 2d at 1267; Francis v. Barton, 581 So. 2d at 584.

XI. THE CLAIM AS TO PECUNIARY GAIN FACTOR IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED.

The Appellant contends that the pecuniary gain factor was not supported by the evidence, that the judge and jury erroneously relied upon the aggravator, and that the "language of this aggravator is vague and overbroad." The instant claim could and should have been raised on direct appeal. Indeed, this Court, on direct appeal expressly noted: "There is ample evidence to support the other aggravating factors: that the killings were committed in the course of a robbery and burglary, that they

were committed for pecuniary gain." <u>Cook v. State</u>, 542 So. 2d at 970. Post conviction proceedings are not a means of obtaining a second appeal. <u>Francis v. Barton</u>, 581 So. 2d at 584. Moreover, the Appellant has not cited any authority for the proposition that said aggravator is vague. Finally, the State would note that the application of this aggravator is proper where the, "entire episode ... was motivated by the prospect of pecuniary gain," even though defendant did not actually take any money. Mendoza v. State, 700 So. 2d 670, 678 (Fla. 1997).

XII. ABSENCE FROM CRITICAL STAGE CLAIM IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED.

The Appellant contends that Defendant was prejudiced by his absence when the trial judge provided written copies of the sentencing order, at resentencing, to counsel. (PCR.59-63).²⁶ The instant claim could and should have been raised on direct appeal, and is procedurally barred. Hardwick v. Dugger, 648 So. 2d 100, 105 (Fla. 1994)(claim of absence during critical stages should have been raised on direct appeal and was procedurally barred in post-conviction proceedings). Moreover, no prejudice has been demonstrated, where the entry of the written order was a

²⁶ It is undisputed that the Defendant was present at the resentencing hearing when counsel submitted arguments and the judge pronounced sentence. No new evidence was presented at resentencing. Moreover, as previously noted the resentencing order readopted the prior findings of aggravating factors, (minus those invalidated by this Court on direct appeal) and the mitigation presented at trial. To the extent necessary, the State also relies upon its recitation of facts and argument in Claim II.D, herein.

ministerial act which did not require any consultation or assistance from the Defendant. See also, Coney v. State, 653 So. 2d 1009, 1016, n.5 (Fla. 1995).

XIII. CLAIM WITH RESPECT TO JURY INTERVIEWS IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED.

The Appellant contends that the rule prohibiting defense counsel from interviewing jurors, to explore misconduct, is invalid. The instant claim was first raised in the 1996 Motion for Rehearing in the court below. (SPCR. 118-22). The State, in reliance upon its previous argument and law presented at pp. 16-18 herein, respectfully submits that this claim was improper and time waived. Moreover, the claim should have been raised on direct appeal, and is procedurally barred on this ground as well. See, e.g. Shere v. State, 579 So. 2d 86, 94-95 (Fla. 1991); State v. Hamilton, 574 So. 2d 124, 130 (Fla. 1991).

XIV. CLAIM OF JUROR MISCONDUCT IS BARRED.

Based solely upon the record on direct appeal, the Appellant contends that the jury failed to adhere to their instruction, because they deliberated for 20 minutes during the penalty phase. Again, this claim was first raised in the 1996 Motion for Rehearing in the court below. (SPCR. 122-3). The State in reliance upon its prior argument and authority set forth in pp.16-18 herein, respectfully submits that the instant claim was improper and time barred. Moreover, the claim is also procedurally barred, as it could and should have been raised on direct appeal. Lambrix v. State,

559 So. 2d 1137, 1138 (Fla. 1990)(claims based on information contained in the original record of case must be raised on direct appeal).

XV. THE GRUESOME PHOTOGRAPH CLAIM IS BARRED.

The Appellant contends that the trial court erred in allowing the State to present gruesome photographs during trial. Once again the instant claim, while entirely based upon the 1986 record on direct appeal, was first raised in the 1996 Motion for Rehearing in the court below. (SPCR. 130). In accordance with the arguments and authority submitted herein at pp. 16-18, the State submits that said claim is improper and untimely. In any event, the issue is also otherwise procedurally barred, as it is a direct appeal claim which could and should have been raised previously. Engle v. Dugger, 576 So. 2d at 702-3.

XVI. THE CLAIM OF INNOCENCE OF DEATH PENALTY IS BARRED.

The Appellant claims that he is innocent of the death penalty pursuant to Sawyer v. Whitley, 505 U.S. 333 (1992), as no aggravating factor is applicable to him. Again, the instant claim was first raised in the 1996 Motion for Rehearing in the court below. (SPCR. 132-33). In accordance with the arguments and authority submitted herein at pp. 16-18, the State submits that said claim is improper and untimely. Moreover, the claim is also otherwise procedurally barred as it could and should have been raised on direct appeal. Finally, the instant claim is without merit

in light of the applicability of the merged felony-murder/pecuniary gain aggravator, in addition to the prior violent felony factor, which contrary to Appellant's assertions, has never been challenged. <u>Sawyer</u>, after all, requires a lack of eligibility for any aggravating factors.

XVII. THE CLAIM OF CUMULATIVE ERROR IS WITHOUT MERIT.

The Appellant contends that cumulative effect of errors denied him a fair trial. The instant claim is without merit, where all specified errors have been considered and rejected. <u>Downs</u>, 24 Fla. L. Weekly S234, n. 5.

XVIII. THE CLAIM OF RIGHT TO SILENCE IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED.

The Appellant contends that his confession was not voluntary, and was obtained by use of threats, promises, etc., in violation of his Miranda rights. The instant claim was again first raised in the 1996 Motion for Rehearing. (SPCR. 114-117). In accordance with the arguments and authority submitted herein at pp. 16-18, the State submits that said claim is improper and untimely. In any event, the claim is also otherwise procedurally barred. The voluntariness of the confession was raised and resolved in a pretrial suppression hearing during which the Defendant and the officers involved all testified. (R. 253-319). This claim thus could and should have been raised on direct appeal. Byrd v. State, 597 So. 2d 252, 254 (Fla. 1992); Atkins v. Dugger, 541 So. 2d 1166, n.1.

XIX. THE CLAIM OF UNCONSTITUTIONALITY OF FLORIDA'S DEATH PENALTY STATUTE IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED.

The Appellant claims that Florida's death penalty statute is unconstitutional on its face and as applied, and that electrocution is cruel and unusual punishment. The instant claim was again first raised in the 1996 Motion for Rehearing. (PCR. 34-36). As such, the State submits that it was improper and untimely, in accordance with the arguments and authority presented at pp. 16-18 herein. The claim is also otherwise procedurally barred, as it could and should have been raised on direct appeal, in addition to being without merit. See, e.g., Thompson v. State, 619 So. 2d 261, 267 (Fla. 1993); Jones v. Butterworth, 691 So.2 d 481 (Fla. 1997); Jones v. State, 701 So. 2d 76 (Fla. 1997).

XX. THE HARMLESS ERROR ANALYSIS ARGUMENT IS BARRED.

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